
PENSION BOARD
THURSDAY, 7 MARCH 2019

A MEETING of the PENSION BOARD will be held at KPMG, 20 CASTLE TERRACE, 

EDINBURGH  EH1 2EG on THURSDAY, 7 MARCH 2019 at 11.15 AM, or immediately following 

the joint meeting of the Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board.  A pre-meeting will be held 

at 9.45 am at KPMG. 

J. J. WILKINSON,
Clerk to the Council,

28 February 2019

BUSINESS

1. Welcome and Introductions 

2. Apologies for Absence 

3. Minute (Pages 3 - 22) 2 mins

Minute of Meeting held on 30 November to be noted and signed by the 
Chairman. (Copy attached). 

4. Joint Meeting of Pension Committee and Pension Board 10 mins

Consideration of any issues required to be raised. 
5. Any Other Items which the Chairman Decides are Urgent 

6. Any other Items Previously Circulated 

7. Date of Next Meeting 

The next meeting is scheduled to be held on Thursday, 13 June 2019 
following the Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board joint meeting. 

NOTES
1. Timings given above are only indicative and not intended to inhibit Members’ 

discussions.

2. Members are reminded that, if they have a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in any 
item of business coming before the meeting, that interest should be declared prior to 
commencement of discussion on that item. Such declaration will be recorded in the 
Minute of the meeting.

Public Document Pack



Membership of Committee:- Councillors S. Aitchison (Chairman), Mr E Barclay (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr M Drysdale, Ms T Dunthorne, Ms K M Hughes, Ms L Ross, Ms H Robertson and Ms C Stewart

Please direct any enquiries to Judith Turnbull  Tel No. 01835 826556
Email: Judith.Turnbull@scotborders.gov.uk



SCOTTISH BORDERS COUNCIL
PENSION BOARD

MINUTE of Meeting of the PENSION 
BOARD held in Council Chamber, Council 
Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells on 
Friday, 30 November 2018 at 9.30 am

Present:- Cllr Aitchison (Chair), Mr E Barclay (Vice Chair), Mr M Drysdale, Ms L Ross 
and Ms C Stewart.  

Apologies:- Ms K M Hughes, Ms H Robertson. 
In Attendance:- Chief Financial Officer, Pension & Investments Manager,  Democratic 

Services Officer (J Turnbull)

1. CHAIRMAN 
Mr Barclay in the Chair.

2. MINUTE 
There had been circulated copies of the Minute of the Meeting of 13 September 2018.

DECISION
NOTED for signature by the Chairman. 

MEMBER
Councillor Aitchison joined the meeting following consideration of the above item. 

3. CHAIRMAN 
Councillor Aitchison in the Chair.  

4. REVIEW OF THE STRUCTURE OF SCOTTISH LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION 
SCHEME - CONSULTATION RESPONSE 

4.1 With reference to paragraph 2 of the Minute of 13 September, there had been circulated 
copies of a report by the Chief Financial Officer seeking approval of the consultation 
response to the review of the structure of the Scottish Local Government Pension 
Scheme.  The report explained that following a request from Scottish Government, the 
Scheme Advisory Board had launched a consultation process on the future structure of 
the Scottish Local Government Pension Scheme. The process had been launched in June 
2018 and sought to establish the views of employee and employers’ representatives on 
four options: (i) To retain the current structure with 11 funds; (ii) To promote cooperation 
in investing and administration between the 11 funds; (iii) To pool investments between 
the 11 funds; and, (iv) to merge the 11 funds into one or more funds.  The Pension Fund 
Committee and Pension Board had received all information available to the Fund and at 
the joint meeting on 13 September all the options had been fully discussed, with the 
majority of  Pension Board members being supportive of Option (ii) above.   The Pension 
Board had agreed to submit a separate response to the consultation and a draft response 
had been circulated with the agenda, for approval. It was noted that responses had to be 
submitted no later than 7 December 2018.

4.2 The Chief Financial Officer, Mr Robertson, discussed the response in detail, highlighting 
the relatively recent establishment of the Board, in 2015, which had significantly enhanced 
the governance and scrutiny of the Fund’s activities and provided a voice for local 
employer and employee representatives.   The response also referred to the Board’s 
conclusion that there was no compelling empirical case for reform, and that any change 
could have a significantly detrimental effect on member confidence, investment 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



performance and funding levels.  However, the Board had accepted that more 
collaboration between funds could have the potential to deliver cost benefits, upgrading of 
systems and sharing of best practice.  Following discussion, it was agreed that the 
response also make reference to a concern that a  merger of funds could have an impact 
on smaller employers in terms of future liabilities and higher contribution rates which could 
affect jobs. 

4.3 In response to questions, Mr Robertson advised that one of drivers for reform was a 
political desire for pension funds to invest in infrastructure.  Scottish Borders Council’s 
Pension Fund, through collaboration with Lothian Pension Fund, already invested in 
infrastructure as part of a balanced approach to investment.  Mr Robertson further 
advised that the only circumstance in which the Fund should be expected to merge would 
be if there was evidence of failure around governance or if the Fund was unable to meet 
future liabilities.  Regarding the opinions of other pension funds in Scotland, Mr Robertson 
advised that from  responses submitted to date, Lothian and Falkirk favoured a merger; 
the other 11 funds, including the largest - Strathclyde Pension fund - favoured option 2; 
with Cosla also supportive of Option 2.   The Board agreed that the consultation response 
be submitted, as amended; and thanked officers and managers for their contribution to 
the effective governance and the advice given to the Pension Board. 

DECISION
AGREED:
(a) That the response to the consultation include reference to the detrimental 

impact full merger could have on smaller employers in terms of future 
liabilities and higher contribution rates; and 

(b) To submit the amended response from Scottish Borders Council Pension 
Board, attached as Appendix A to the Minute.   

ADJOURNMENT
The meeting was adjourned at 10.00 am and recommenced at 11.30 pm, following the 
joint meeting of the Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board.  

5. JOINT MEETING OF PENSION COMMITTEE AND PENSION BOARD 
The Board discussed the joint meeting, there were no concerns. 

DECISION
NOTED.

6. URGENT BUSINESS 
Under Section 50B(4)(b) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973, the Chairman was 
of the opinion that the item dealt with in the following paragraph should be considered at 
the meeting as a matter of urgency, in view of the need to make an early decision.

7. PENSION BOARD MEMBERSHIP 
Mrs Robb advised that following the resignation of Mr Smith, Border’s College had 
appointed Ms Hazel Robertson, Vice Principal, as their representative on the Pension 
Board.   It was noted that Mr Terras, one of Unison’s representatives, had also tendered 
his resignation and that Unison had appointed Ms Terry Dunthorne as their other 
representative on the Pension Board.
   
DECISION
(a) NOTED the resignation of Mr J Terras.

(b) AGREED the membership of the Pension Board as follows:-

Councillor S Aitchison (Scottish Borders Council)
Mr E Barclay (Unite)

Page 4



Mr M Drysdale (GMB)
Ms T Dunthorne (Unison – Council’s Trade Union Consultative Group) 
Ms K M Hughes (Unison)
Ms L Ross (Admitted Body)
Ms H Robertson (Borders College)
Ms C Stewart (Admitted Body.

8. PENSION BOARD MEMBERSHIP 
Following the resignation of Mr P Smith, to appoint an employer representative to the 
Pension Fund Investment and Performance Sub-Committee.   It was noted that Ms K M 
Hughes was the Union’s representative on the Sub-Committee. The Board unanimously 
agreed that Ms Linda Ross be appointed as the Pension Board employer’s representative 
on the Pension Fund Investment and Performance Sub-Committee.   

DECISION
AGREED to appoint Ms L Ross to the Pension Fund Investment Performance Sub-
Committee. 

The meeting concluded at 11.45 am   

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Page 1 of 15

Review of the Structure of the Scottish Local Government Pension 
Scheme
CONSULTATION RESPONSE FORM

Instructions
Responses in this form should be drafted in conjunction with the accompanying 
consultation report.  To respond, please complete the respondent details and as many 
of the consultation questions your organisation wishes to complete and return the 
form via email to the Pensions Institute at consultation@pensions-intitute.org no later 
than Friday, 7 December 2018.

This consultation is being conducted in electronic form only, so responses must be 
emailed; hard copy posted or delivered responses cannot be received. Any queries 
about the consultation should be addressed to Matthew Roy, Fellow, Pensions Institute 
at matthew.roy@pensions-institute.org. 

RESPONDENT DETAILS

Name of responding organisation(s)
Please list the full name of each organisation
participating in this response.

Organisation type
Is your organisation an 
administering authority, 
employer, or employee 
group? Please record for 
each responding 
organisation.

Scottish Borders Council Pension Board Pension Fund Board 

Authors
Please list any people that wish to be recorded as authors 
of this response, including name, job title and organisation.

Consent
Please confirm each 
author consents to their 
information being 
retained for analysing the 
consultation responses 
by writing ‘confirm’ by 
their name.

confirm

Date
Please date the response.

30/11/18

Page 5

Minute Item 4

Page 7

mailto:consultation@pensions-intitute.org


Page 2 of 15

Covering information
If you wish to include covering information with your response, please include the text 
here. The text can wrap onto additional pages if needed.

The Scottish Borders Council Pension Board was established under the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (Governance) (Scotland) Regulations 2015.

 
Joint meetings of the Pension Fund Committee and Pension Fund Board have been held 
regularly following implementation of these regulations on 1 April 2015.

The remit of the Pension Fund Board is to assist the Council (as administering authority) in 
relation to:

a) securing compliance with the regulations and other legislation relating to the 
governance and administration of the Scheme and any statutory pension scheme 
that is connected with it; 

b) securing compliance with requirements imposed in relation to the Scheme and any 
connected scheme by the Pensions Regulator; and

c) such other matters as the regulations may specify.

The Board is made up of four scheme employer representatives and four trade union 
representatives.  

The Pension Fund places assurance on the activities of the Board is fully compliant with 
the relevant legislation.  

The arrangements associated with the Board are still relatively new having only been in 
place since 2015.    They have however significantly enhanced the governance and 
scrutiny of the Fund’s activities and also provide a strong voice for local employer and 
employee representatives. 

The management of the Scottish Borders Pension Fund is assisted greatly by the 
involvement of local elected members, local trade unions representative and local 
employers in the decision making process through both the Pension Fund Committee 
and the Board.  

The Board believes that effective governance and oversight of the pension fund can best 
be achieved at this local level where employers and employees can actively participate 
in, and influence decisions through well-established local governance arrangements. 
These arrangements need to be given time to bed in before any further changes are 
considered to the governance or management structure of the LGPS in Scotland.

The Board believes there is no compelling evidence to support the case for change and 
that unnecessary structural change could have a significantly detrimental effect on 
member confidence, investment performance and funding levels.   The Board is 
specifically concerned that merger or pooling could significantly lessen the voice of 
smaller scheme Employers in the governance of the LGPS.

The evidence published and quoted by other respondents in support of change is at best 
selective.  Pension fund reforms being undertaken in England and Wales have proved 
expensive to date and have yet to demonstrate any material benefits.  

Page 6Page 8



Page 3 of 15

Having considered the published data and the draft responses of other respondents, the 
Scottish Borders Pension Fund Board has concluded that there is no reliable empirical 
case for reform and much more work would have to be done to evaluate the benefits 
and significant risks associated with change before this could be supported as being in 
the best interests of the pension fund membership.   

The Board accepts that more effective collaboration between funds has the potential to 
deliver some cost benefits, as well as realising potential advantages in other areas for 
example the procurement and upgrade of systems and the sharing of best practice and 
for these reasons supports a voluntary collaboration model, based on option 2 in the 
consultation .  This would avoid the need for pooling or expensive, time-consuming 
structural reform to deliver theoretical, but as yet unproven, benefits and un-evidenced 
cost savings.

The consultation questions follow.

Page 7Page 9



Page 4 of 15

CONSULTATION QUESTIONS

Question 1: Retain the current structure with 11 funds
The text can wrap onto additional pages.

a) Cost of investing: 

 How well informed do you feel about the investment costs in your fund? What 
information do you rely on to specify and measure these?

The Board is fully informed through joint meetings of the Pension Board and Pension 
Fund Committee of the costs of administering the fund. 

How well does the current system manage investment costs?  

The Board has access to good information with regard to fee levels charged by fund 
managers.   The key issue is not however the level of fees charged but the net benefits 
delivered through manager out performance and having a clear understanding of the 
costs associated with this.  The Board believes that the overall value for money 
delivered by a manager is a more important consideration than crude investment costs.

How would you improve the measurement and management of investment costs 
in the current system?

All fund managers employed by the LGPS should be required to disclose their full fee 
structure in line with the Fee Transparency Code. 

Governance: 

How well informed do you feel about the governance of your fund? What 
information do you rely on to measure this?  

The Pension Board with strong local employee membership has added a positive 
new dimension to the governance of the pension fund. The Board primarily relies on 
the opinion of Audit Scotland, the views of the actuary and the support of officers to 
gauge how well the fund is meeting the standards of good governance.   

The Fund’s annual Governance Statement prepared under the 2014 regulations  
demonstrates full compliance with the governance standards required by Scottish 
Ministers.  

 How well is the current system governed?

The 2016 KPMG review of  governance concluded positively with regards to the 
standard of governance in place across the LGPS in Scotland.   

Pension Fund Boards have added a further positive dimension by ensuring scrutiny of 
pension fund committee decisions and effective employee representation in the 
management of pension funds.

Statutory external Audit of the LGPS funds is undertaken annually.  These do not 
highlight any concerns with the current governance arrangements in place across funds.

Page 8Page 10



Page 5 of 15

 How would you improve governance of the current system? 

Pension Fund committees should continue to meet jointly with Pension Boards on a 
regular basis and committee meetings should be held in public wherever possible.   

The minutes of meetings should be published. 

The introduction of Boards and the Scheme Advisory Board has added an extra 
beneficial layer of governance and oversight and the Fund believes a strong proactive 
Scheme Advisory Board has the potential to ensure all funds are fully meeting the 
required standards of governance and oversight.

 How important is it to maintain a local connection with respect to oversight 
and strategy?

The LGPS is a local service.  The SBC Pension Fund Board believes that decisions that 
affect local people are best made locally and that these decisions should be as 
transparent and open as possible.  

The Board believes it is important therefore that there is effective oversight and scrutiny 
of pension funds at local level.  This is best achieved where there is close alignment 
between scheme members and their dependents and those charged with taking 
decisions.   Such close alignment improves accountability and transparency.  

Decisions with regard to investments, environmental social and governance issues, risk 
management etc. should kept as local as possible so that those charged with ensuring 
effective governance can be held accountable to their members and the local electorate 
for their decisions with regard to oversight,  strategy, and ultimately,  their stewardship 
of the pension fund.  In the Borders the local nature of decision making guarantees an 
effective voice for employee representatives on pension fund boards.  

 How would you determine if the benefits of a local connection in governance 
outweigh the benefits of scale?

There is no evidence that larger sized pension funds perform better, or that they have 
fundamentally lower costs.  There is no proven relationship between scale and the 
effectiveness of governance either at a local or at a more aggregate level.

Operating risks: 

 How well informed do feel about the operating risks of your fund? What 
information do you rely on to specify and measure these?

The pension fund committee and the pension fund board in the Borders holds regular 
joint meetings with their advisors, fund managers and officers to ensure the risks 
associated with their investments are fully understood.  The Fund has robust risk 
management arrangements in place which are subject to regular quarterly review.

 How well are operating risks managed in the current system?

The performance of the LGPS in Scotland and the content of external audit reports 

Page 9Page 11



Page 6 of 15

indicate these risks are being managed effectively.  The Board is supported in its 
governance role by high quality managers, professional officers, an independent 
expert advisor KPMG, external Custodian Northern Trust and the fund Actuary 
Barnett Waddingham.

 How would you improve the measurement and management of operating risks 
in the current system?

By requiring members to undertake mandatory training e.g. the Trustee toolkit provide d 
by the Pensions Regulator to ensure they have a good understanding of operating risks. 

By requiring each fund to publish a comprehensive risk register for the fund which is 
subject to regular review.

Infrastructure: 

 How well informed do you feel about your fund’s investments in 
infrastructure? What information do you rely on?

The Board is fully informed through regular reports and information updates of all the 
Fund’s investments including infrastructure

 How do you rate the current system’s ability to invest in infrastructure?

The principal objective of a pension fund is to build up a fund of assets sufficient to meet 
future pension fund liabilities, not to fund public infrastructure projects.  Funds can and 
do already invest in infrastructure as part of a balanced approach to investment.

Scottish Borders for example has made an allocation of 5% of its assets under 
management to infrastructure and is investing in this asset class in collaboration with 
Lothian Pension fund. 

 How would you increase investment in infrastructure in the current system? 

The attractiveness of this asset class can only be assessed in comparison to the risk 
and return profile of infrastructure vis a vis other investment opportunities.  

Having an appropriate vehicle to access infrastructure investment in a cost effective 
manner would greatly assist this process.   The structures to easy enable such large 
scale investment in infrastructure, which balances suitable returns within an optimized 
risk profile, with low cost project funding which can match PWLB costs, are not however 
yet suitably developed.  Development of such a model would help to facilitate 
infrastructure investment.

Do you have any additional comments about this option?

This option is based upon the continuation of the current structure of the LGPS in 
Scotland.  It is by any standards a significant success story with over £44b of assets 
under management at 31 March 2018.   

The LGPS in Scotland is in a fundamentally different place to funds in England and 
Wales both in terms of funding levels and investment performance.  Any changes made 
to the current system, which is performing well, and appears to be governed effectively 

Page 10Page 12



Page 7 of 15

assisted by the operation of the new Pensions Boards, run the risk of being an 
expensive distraction in the short to medium term.  

Any changes recommended to ministers as a result of this consultation exercise must 
deliver better outcomes, based on robust empirical data.   The current evidence base 
for change is at best weak.  Making changes to the current arrangements without robust 
supporting evidence, would be a major failure of governance.

Question 2: Promote cooperation in investing and administration 
between the 11 funds
The text can wrap onto additional pages.

a) Cost of investing: 

 What impact do you think promoting agreements between funds would have 
on investment costs? 

The Board believes that further collaboration in investing and administration between 
pension fund administering authorities has the potential to deliver significant benefits, 
not least the promotion of good practice.  Funds collaborating in investment 
opportunities could realise benefits in terms of fees through larger co-investments. 

 What would be the positive impacts? 

Economies of scale may be delivered to some of the smaller funds. Larger funds are 
unlikely to benefit materially.  Overall cost gains are likely to be marginal for the 
LGPS in Scotland . 

Collaboration and cooperation will give all funds the benefits of sharing experience 
and best practice.  

 What would be the negative impacts?

Collaboration does not remove the requirement for individual funds to undertake due 
diligence regarding prospective investments.  If funds do agree to collaborate they will 
still be required to undertake their own robust diligence exercise before committing to 
invest.

Page 11Page 13



Page 8 of 15

 

Governance:

What impact do you think promoting agreements between funds would have on 
governance? 

Collaboration may encourage the sharing of good practice although this is already 
widely shared nationally at officer level – through .  

Collaboration would not remove the requirement for each fund to ensure its 
governance arrangements are operating effectively, that proper advice is followed at 
all times  and that appropriate due diligence is undertaken before investing.    

 What would be the positive impacts? 

Sharing of best practice and closer cooperation on co investment opportunities should 
have a positive impact.  

 What would be the negative impacts?

Collaboration would not remove any of the existing governance and audit requirements.

Operating risks: 

 What impact do you think promoting agreements between funds would have 
on operating risks?

There would be little if any material impact on operating risks through this option. 

What would be the positive impacts?

There could be potential benefits through economies of scale and collaboration on the 
joint development and testing of systems.

What would be the negative impacts?

There could be an increased cost arising from legal agreements to underpin 
collaboration.

d) Infrastructure:

 What impact do you think promoting agreements between funds would have 
on funds’ ability to invest in infrastructure? 

In practice this arrangement is already working effectively with respect to infrastructure.   

 What would be the positive impacts? 

Smaller funds could have access to a wider range of investment opportunities on a cost 
effective basis.  A recent good example is the benefits that have been gained by Falkirk 
and Scottish Borders Council through collaboration with Lothian Pension Fund in a 

Page 12Page 14



Page 9 of 15

range of infrastructure based investments.  Co investment provides the opportunity to 
share legal, technical due diligence costs.  

Closer collaboration would allow the retention of local expertise in the Finance and HR 
functions providing depth and resilience across Scotland, particularly in smaller 
authorities, which would otherwise be lost.

 What would be the negative impacts?

There would be a need for additional legal documentation to avoid  the potential for 
disagreement and challenge arising from service failure or adverse investment returns.  

Do you have any additional comments about this option? 

Collaboration would mitigate key person risk in smaller councils which would arise as a 
direct result of other options.

Question 3: Pool investments between the 11 funds
The text can wrap onto additional pages.

a) Cost of investing: 

 What impact do you think pooling investments between funds would have on 
the cost of investing? 

Pooling of investments would require significant restructuring of LGPS investment 
mandates at significant cost.     

 What would be the positive impacts? 

There could be a positive impact on some of the smaller funds’ fee costs from 
investment pooling.  The larger funds e.g. Strathclyde are unlikely to see much if any 
benefit due to their existing scale.  

Reducing costs is important but will only deliver benefit if it improves net investment 
returns.

 What would be the negative impacts?

There is no evidence as yet of any benefits that pooling may provide.  Investment 
management fee reductions may be delivered  but these are also likely to be offset by 
transition and reorganization costs.  

This would require an additional level of expensive governance at pool level which could 
be avoided.

If asset pooling were possible, under what circumstances should a fund consider 
joining an asset pool?

Pooling should only be undertaken if it provides significant advantages to the Fund.  

Page 13Page 15



Page 10 of 15

These advantages will differ depending on the circumstances of each fund. 

Under which circumstances should the SLGPS consider directing funds to pool?

Using direction to force pooling is strongly opposed by the Scottish Borders Pension 
Board.  The only circumstances where this should be considered is if there was 
sustained evidence of governance failures at a local level or evidence that funds were 
completely unable to meet their long term liabilities on an actuarial basis. 

By taking investment decisions out of local authority pension fund control such direction 
would in effect mean Scottish Ministers were assuming responsibility for any negative 
impact arising from pooling on investment returns, funding levels or scheme 
participation rates. 

b) Governance: 

 What impact do you think pooling investments between funds would have on 
governance? 

Pooling is likely to require additional governance and administrative structures to be 
established.  

 What would be the positive impacts?

There is as yet no evidence that pooling has had a positive impact in England and 
Wales. 

 What would be the negative impacts?

This option may require additional layers of governance, lessen local involvement in 
investment decisions, lessen the voice of local employee representatives and make 
decision making more remote.

c) Operating risks:

 What impact do you think pooling investments between funds would have on 
operating risks? 

There is likely to be little impact on operating risks arising from pooling.  Day to day 
investment would continue to be carried out by investment managers.

 What would be the positive impacts?

SBCPF Board could not identify any positive impact on operating risks from pooling. 

 What would be the negative impacts?

The major impact will be the need for an additional expensive fund governance 
structure operating at pool level. 

d) Infrastructure: 

 What impact do you think pooling investments between funds would have on 

Page 14Page 16



Page 11 of 15

funds’ ability to invest in infrastructure? 

There will be little impact on the ability to invest in infrastructure.  Decisions to invest in 
infrastructure are based upon as assessment of the benefits and risks associated with 
such investments.  These decisions sit within a Fund’s overall asset allocation strategy 
and cannot be viewed in isolation.    

 What would be the positive impacts? 

None

 What would be the negative impacts?

None 

Do you have any additional comments about this option?

Yes. 

There are significant risks associated with this option and a lack of empirical data  in its 
support. 

Pooling will introduce an added layer of bureaucracy.  Staff would be required to run the 
new pools at potentially significant cost if staffing arrangements and grades sit out with 
current local government pay structures.

There is no evidence yet that the new pooling arrangements in England and Wales 
have delivered any cost benefits, improvements in governance, or that they have 
fostered a greater desire to invest in infrastructure. 

The costs associated with pooling may be significant.  It will be time consuming and be 
a distraction from the primary purpose of pension funds i.e. to build a fund of assets to 
meet liabilities.  It will require substantial additional costly professional advice from 
pension fund managers, investment consultants, actuaries and lawyers.  

The LGPS in Scotland would be well advised to await the publication and evaluation of 
the benefits and issues that have arisen with pooling elsewhere before pursuing this 
option.  

Page 15Page 17



Page 12 of 15

Question 4: Merge the funds into one or more new funds
The text can wrap onto additional pages.

a) Cost of investing: 

 What impact do you think mergers between funds would have on the cost of 
investing?

Merger would require significant restructuring of LGPS investment mandates at 
significant cost.  The study undertaken by Mercers does not support the view that larger 
fund always have lower costs or that they perform better based on their snapshot 
analysis of the LGPS 2015 accounts.  

 What would be the positive impacts? 

Larger funds may be able to access cheaper fees due to scale.  This may provide 
smaller funds, who manage a minority of LGPS assets, with some benefits but these 
gains are likely to be marginal at best.  Audit Scotland analysis of fees does not show a 
significantly different level of investment costs across the varying LGPS funds in 
Scotland.  

What would be the negative impacts?

The consultation document notes significant cost savings as a potential advantage of 
this option.  There is however as yet little UK, and clearly no Scottish, evidence to 
support this assertion.  The larger funds that already enjoy these benefits of scale 
are unlikely to see any benefits in terms of cost reduction as they already access the 
cheapest fees levels.

The proposal is untried and the risks of merger are not fully understood.  

 If merging were possible, under what circumstances should a fund consider a 
merger?.  This should only be considered where it is in considered by the pension 
fund committee and Board to be in the best interests of the fund members.    
Consultation with local authority employers will be required under the regulations. 

 Under what circumstances should the SLGPS consider directing funds to 
merge?

As per the answer to option 3 above this should only be considered where there is 
significant evidence of governance failures at local level or there is a clear inability to 
meet future liabilities following a deficit recovery period agreed with the fund actuary. 

b) Governance: 

 What impact do you think mergers between funds would have on governance? 

It would have a significant adverse impact on local governance for those councils who 
currently operate a fund.  

  What would be the positive impacts? 

Page 16Page 18



Page 13 of 15

There may be some economies of scale.

 What would be the negative impacts? 

This would effectively remove a local service from local control.  Recent examples of 
merger in other services at national level have proved to be controversial and 
problematic with concerns over governance and a lack of clarity regarding the 
realisation of the original objectives.

c) Operating risks: 

 What impact do you think mergers between funds would have on operating 
risks?

It is not clear what effect this option would have on funding levels, which could 
potentially change for individual employers under a fully merged structure.  

 What would be the positive impacts? 

This option would reduce key person risk for smaller pension funds.

 What would be the negative impacts?

This option would increase pressure on remaining council staff and as TUPE would be 
required it would reduce senior capacity at local level.

d) Infrastructure:

 What impact do you think mergers between funds would have on funds’ ability 
to invest in infrastructure? 

It is unclear how merger would assist with the process of investment in infrastructure.  If 
such investment is identified as being the correct course of action for funds as part of 
their asset allocation strategy this should be pursued.  A number of pension funds are 
already investing in infrastructure however the process is hindered by lack of suitable 
investment vehicles.  Collaboration without restructure provides an equally valid route to 
access infrastructure at potentially much lower cost.

 What would be the positive impacts? 

A larger fund may have more appetite for alternative infrastructure investments as part 
of their asset allocation strategy. 

 What would be the negative impacts?

There is a danger that merger is seen as providing a solution to a political aspiration.  
Potential Investment in infrastructure should not be seen as a driver for the merger 
option.

See below

e) Do you have any additional comments about this option?

New governance arrangements would be required and this would incur additional costs 

Page 17Page 19



Page 14 of 15

during transition. 

The move to formal restructure would lessen links to local decision making for example 
with regard to investment strategy and asset allocation, removing a key role for elected 
members in the governance of pension funds.

The effect on employer contributions is not known.  It should be noted however that 
some of the smaller funds have the lowest contribution rates at present indicating a high 
degree of efficiency in terms of cost and investment returns.  The funds in rural areas 
including SBCPF also have the some of the highest longevity for fund members which 
has a bearing on their funding level.   

The effect of any merger on Fund diversification is not known.  There is a risk that 
investment in assets with higher risk profiles over many years may be required to 
compensate for the costs of merger. 

Full Merger is likely to require expensive restructuring. There is no evidence that this 
would deliver tangible benefits when compared to current arrangements.  

Any move to restructure the current LGPS must be based on sound empirical evidence 
that it will deliver tangible improvement for both large and smaller funds when compared 
to the current structure.

The process of merger may unsettle the membership of the LGPS encouraging 
transfers out of the fund and discouraging new entrants.

Page 18Page 20



Page 15 of 15

Question 5: Preferred and additional options
The text can wrap onto additional pages.

a) Which option does your organisation prefer? Please explain your preference.

The Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund Board believes that the case for change to 
the LGPS in Scotland has not been made.  

More work would have to be done to evaluate the benefits and risks associated with 
structural change in the form of pooling or merger before this could seriously be 
recommended to Scottish Ministers.  

An ill thought through change based on limited data risks undermining the success story 
that is the LGPS in Scotland.   

In the absence of evidence to the contrary the SBCPF board is of the view that such 
change would be likely to have a detrimental impact on performance and pensioner 
confidence and for this reason believes that if change is required this should come in 
the form of option 2 with closer cooperation being encouraged between funds. This has 
the potential to deliver  a number of positive benefits as set out in the consultation 
response 

What other options should be considered for the future structure of the LGPS?

There are no other options SBCPF Board could identify that would improve on the 
current position.

b) What would be the advantages and disadvantages of these other option for 
funds’ investment costs, governance, operating risks and ability to invest in 
infrastructure?

N/A

c) Are there any other comments you would like to make?

No

The consultation questions end.

Page 19Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22


	Agenda
	3 Minute
	Minutes
	4 Review of the Structure of Scottish Local Government Pension Scheme - Consultation Response


